RECEIVED

08-28-2019

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

VS.

Appeal No. 2019AP000858 CR

2019AP000859 CR

JEFFREY T. ZIEGLER,

Defendant-Appellant.

DEFENDANT-APPELLANT JEFFREY T. ZIEGLER'S BRIEF AND APPENDIX

Appeals from judgments and an order of the circuit court for Dane County,

the Honorable John D. Hyland, judge.

Electronically signed by Patricia Sommer

Patricia Sommer State Bar No. 1031925 Attorney for Jeffery T. Ziegler

Sommer Law Office, LLC 509 Nova Way Madison, WI 53704 (608) 957-4959

Issue Presentedii
Statements on Oral Argument and Publicationii
STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND THE FACTS1
ARGUMENT2
A. The Decision to Allow Withdrawal of a Guilty Plea Is Within the Circuit Court's Discretion
B. The Circuit Court Erred in Denying Ziegler's Motion to Withdraw His Pleas Because There Was No Factual Basis for a Finding of Sexual Gratification, an Element of Wisconsin STAT. §942.08(2)(d).
CONCLUSION5
TABLE OF AUTHORITIES
WISCONSIN STATUTES
WISCONSIN STATUTES
§ 942.08

ISSUE PRESENTED

Did the State fail to present evidence on all elements of the charged statute? The circuit court said no.

STATEMENTS ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Oral argument is not warranted as oral argument would be of marginal value. Publication is warranted as the cases apply an established rule of law to a factual situation significantly different from that in published opinions.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND THE FACTS

These cases were consolidated on appeal. *See* Order dated May 17, 2019. Where issues were dealt with together in the trial court, reference is made to the record in 2019 AP 858-CR alone. Where issues were dealt with separately, references are to R1, record on 2019 AP 858-CR, and R2, record on 2019 AP 859-CR.

2017 CM 1583

On August 19, 2017, at 3:22 p.m., City of Madison police responded to a call that a man had looked through a window of the caller's residence. R1:1; A1. Later that night, at 12:24 a.m. on August 20, 2017, police responded to the same address, with the caller saying that the same man was across the street, looking in the windows of another house. R1:2; A2. Police found Ziegler on that block getting in to his car, "sweating profusely ... breathing deeply, [with] the zipper on his pants ... down." *Id.* The police arrested Ziegler. *Id.* The circuit court found that these facts were sufficient to infer an intent of sexual gratification. R.39:5; A12.

2017 CM 1664

Count 1: Disorderly Conduct at 1110 E. Mifflin St. 1

Here, Ziegler was allegedly on the complainant's porch and activated her door bell, which can be activated by motion sensor or by someone pressing the doorbell. R2.4:3; A6.

Count 2 and Count 3: Disorderly Conduct and Invasion of Privacy at 939 E. Gorham St.

On June 11, 2017, a neighbor reported that he saw Ziegler staring into his neighbor's window. *Id*.

1

¹ Ziegler was charged with Attempted Invasion of Privacy on Count 1 of 2017 CM 1664, R2.4; A4, but the district attorney indicated at the February 27, 2018 hearing on Ziegler's Motion to Dismiss that the state would amend the complaint to disorderly conduct. R.39:5-6; A12-13. This amendment is reflected on the judgment of conviction in the dismissed but read in charged. R2.25.

Count 4: Attempted Invasion of Privacy at 924 E. Dayton St.²

This last count involves a report that, on April 26, 2017, Ziegler was looking into the window of a studio apartment from a shrub-filling area outside. R2.4:2; A5.

Circuit Court's Decision on Motion to Dismiss

Predisposition, Ziegler moved to dismiss Count 1 in 2017 CM 1583 and Counts 1 and 4 in 2017 CM 1664 as alleging insufficient facts from which to infer that Ziegler had committed the charged crimes. R.12:1. Ziegler alleged that the facts were not sufficient to support a charge of invasion of privacy, as that offense is described in WIS. STAT. § 942.08(2)(d). R.12:2. That statute requires that the actor "[e]nters another person's private property without that person's consent or enters an enclosed or unenclosed common area of a multiunit dwelling or condominium and looks into any individual dwelling unit" if four factors apply. The first requirement listed is that the actor looks into the unit "for the purpose of sexual arousal or gratification." Sec. 942.08(2)(d)1. The third is that the individual has a reasonable expectation of privacy in "that part of the dwelling unit." Sec. 942.08(2)(d)3.

The circuit court denied the motion to dismiss on all counts. Regarding 2019 AP 858, the circuit court found that the facts were sufficient to infer an intent of sexual gratification. R39:5. In 2019 AP 859, on Count 1, the circuit court did not address the sexual gratification element, as the state indicated it would amend the count to disorderly conduct. R.39:6. On Count 4, the circuit court found that the facts were sufficient to infer an intent of sexual gratification. R.39:10; A17.

Postconviction Motion

Postconviction, Ziegler renewed his arguments to the circuit court, arguing that the lack of factual basis entitled Ziegler to withdraw his pleas and that the cases should be dismissed. R.27. The circuit court denied the motion. R.36.

2

² Count 4 was ultimately read in and dismissed. R2.25.

ARGUMENT

A. The Decision to Allow Withdrawal of a Guilty Plea Is Within the Circuit Court's Discretion.

The circuit court's decision whether to allow withdrawal of a guilty plea is discretionary, and is therefore subject to the clearly erroneous standard on review. *State v. Thomas*, 232 Wis. 2d 714, 724, 605 N.W.2d 836 (1999).

B. The Circuit Court Erred in Denying Ziegler's Motion to Withdraw His Pleas Because There Was No Factual Basis for a Finding of Sexual Gratification, an Element of Wisconsin STAT. §942.08(2)(d).

Ziegler was convicted of invasion of privacy. *See* WIS. STAT. § 942.08(2)(d). That statute has requisite elements, the first of which is that the actor looks into a dwelling unit "for the purpose of sexual arousal or gratification." Sec. 942.08(2)(d)1. There was no fact alleged in the complaints to justify a finding of sexual gratification in this case.

In order for the circuit court to accept a guilty plea, there must be a showing that the plea was knowingly, voluntarily and intelligently made. *Thomas*, 232 Wis. at 725. The court must also find that there is a factual basis for the crime charged. *Id.* "This 'factual basis' requirement is distinct from the above-stated "voluntariness" requirement ... and "protects a defendant who is in the position of pleading voluntarily with an understanding of the nature of the charge but without realizing that his conduct does not actually fall within the charge." *Id.* (quoting *McCarthy v. United States*, 394 U.S. 459 (1969)). The circuit court must determine that the conduct to which the defendant has admitted constitutes the offense charged. *Id.* at 727. "[I]f a circuit court fails to establish a factual basis that the defendant admits constitutes the offense pleaded to, manifest injustice has occurred," *id.*, and the circuit court should allow withdrawal of the plea, *see State v. Higgs*, 230 Wis. 2d 1, 10, 601 N.W.2d 653 (Ct. App. 1999). On a motion to

withdraw, the court may review the totality of the circumstances, and the entirety of the record, to determine whether the defendant has accepted the factual basis underpinning the guilty plea. *Thomas*, 232 Wis. 2d at 730.

Here, neither complaint alleged any fact demonstrating that Ziegler actions were for sexual arousal or gratification. As indicated above, the complaints alleged that Ziegler looked through a window. On that night, the complaint alleges, Ziegler was "sweating profusely ... breathing deeply, [with] the zipper on his pants ... down," when the police confronted him. *Id*. The other complaint alleged that Zeigler was on the complainant's porch, R2:4:3, was staring into a window, *id*., and was looking into the window of a studio apartment from a shrub-filling area outside, R2:4:2;A5. The circuit court found that these facts were sufficient to infer an intent of sexual gratification. R.39:5;A12.

The circuit court's conclusion renders the sexual gratification prong of the statute superfluous. *See NCR Corp. v. DOR*, 128 Wis. 2d 442, 456, 384 N.W.2d 355 (Ct. App. 1986) (construe statute so as to avoid superfluous language). If every time someone looks into a bedroom window we can infer sexual gratification or arousal, then the first requirement in the statute's list is unnecessary. To read this section out of the statute would be contrary to the legislature's intent. *See Voss v. City of Middleton*, 162 Wis. 2d 737, 749, 470 N.W.2d 625 (1991). The circuit court's acceptance of Ziegler's guilty plea to charges that had no basis in fact was a manifest injustice, and Ziegler must be allowed to withdraw his plea.

CONCLUSION