# **RECEIVED**

STATE OF WISCONSIN **12-10-2019** COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV

**CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN** 

Appeal Nos. 2019AP858-CR and 2019AP859-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

vs.

JEFFREY T ZIEGLER,

Defendant-Appellant.

PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF DANE COUNTY, BRANCH 14, THE HONORABLE JOHN HYLAND, PRESIDING

> Erin Hanson Assistant District Attorney Dane County, Wisconsin Attorney for Plaintiff-Respondent State Bar No. 1037939

Dane County District Attorney's Office 215 S. Hamilton St., Room 3000 Madison WI 53703-3297 Telephone: (608) 266-4211

#

## ISSUE PRESENTED

Did the circuit court comply with its obligation to ensure that Jeffrey T. Ziegler committed the crimes to which he pleaded?

The circuit court, on review, said yes.

## STATEMENT ON PUBLICATION AND ORAL ARGUMENT

This case can be resolved on the briefs by applying well-established legal principles to the facts of the case. Accordingly, the State does not request oral argument. The case does not meet criteria for publication.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

As the plaintiff-respondent, the State exercises its option not to present a full statement of the case See Wis. Stat. § 809.19(3)(a)2. The State will supplement the statement of the facts and case as appropriate in its argument.

#### ARGUMENT

The circuit court correctly denied Ziegler's motion to withdraw his guilty plea and for dismissal.

Jeffrey Ziegler stands convicted on his guilty pleas to two counts of Invasion of Privacy in violation of Wis. Stat. § 942.08(2)(d) and to one count of Disorderly Conduct in violation of Wis. Stat. § 947.01(1) (R1.21; R2.25)\(^1\). As relevant to this appeal, Ziegler filed a postconviction motion seeking to withdraw his guilty pleas and have the trial court dismiss his cases (R1.28). The circuit court denied the motion without a hearing (R1.36). Ziegler now appeals.

#### 1. Standard of Review

Whether a plea is knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily entered is a question of constitutional fact. State v. Lackershire, 2007 WI 74, ¶ 24, 301 Wis. 2d 418, 734 N.W.2d 23. This Court accepts the circuit court's findings of historical and evidentiary facts unless they are clearly erroneous. Id. But it determines independently whether those facts demonstrate that the defendant's plea was knowing, intelligent, and voluntary.

1

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> R1 refers to the Record for 2019AP858 and R2 refers to the Record for 2019AP859.

Id. This Court reviews whether the plea colloquy met the statutory requirements independently of the circuit court. Id. at  $\P$  25.

## 2. Legal Principles

A defendant who seeks to withdraw a guilty or nocontest plea after sentencing bears the heavy burden of establishing by clear and convincing evidence that withdrawal of the plea is necessary to correct a "manifest injustice." State v. Milanes, 2006 WI App 259, ¶ 12, 297 Wis. 2d 684, 727 N.W.2d 94; State v. Black, 2001 WI 31, ¶ 9, 242 Wis. 2d 126, 624 N.W.2d 363. Withdrawal of a plea following sentencing is not allowed unless it is necessary to correct a manifest injustice. See State v. Higgs, 230 Wis. 2d 1, 10, 601 N.W.2d 653, 658 (Ct. App. 1999) (citing State v. Rock, 92 Wis. 2d 554, 558-59, 285 N.W.2d 739, 741-42 (1970)).

In cases where a defendant has alleged lack of factual basis to support the plea, reviewing courts have conducted an analysis under *State v. Bangert* to determine whether the lack of factual basis entitles the defendant to withdraw his plea. *See State v. Lackershire*, 2007 WI 74, ¶ 51, 301 Wis. 2d 418, 734 N.W.2d 23 (citations omitted). To establish a right to withdraw a plea under *Bangert*, the

defendant has the initial burden to prove that an on-therecord colloquy did not occur or was inadequate for a
specific reason and must allege he did not understand the
information that should have been provided. See State v.
Hoppe, 2008 WI App 89, ¶12, 312 Wis. 2d 765, 754 N.W.2d
203. If the defendant establishes the first step, then the
burden shifts to the State to show by clear and convincing
evidence that the plea was knowingly and voluntarily
entered. See State v. Bangert, 131 Wis. 2d 245, 274, 389
N.W.2d 12; Hoppe, 312 Wis. 2d 765, ¶ 12. To shift the
burden to the State, the defendant seeking plea withdrawal
must "point to a plea colloquy deficiency evident in the
plea colloquy transcript." State v. Negrete, 2012 WI 92,
¶19, 343 Wis. 2d 1, 819 N.W.2d 749.

Wisconsin Stats. Sec. 971.08(1)(b) directs that before accepting a guilty plea, the trial court must ascertain "that the defendant in fact committed the crime charged."

This is known as the factual basis requirement. See State v. Thomas, 2000 WI 13, ¶14, 232 Wis. 2d 714, 605 N.W.2d 836. "[E]stablishing a sufficient factual basis requires a showing that 'the conduct which the defendant admits constitutes the offense charged...'" Lackershire, 301 Wis. 2d 418, ¶ 33, 734 N.W.2d 23 (quoted source omitted). The

court's inquiry into whether the defendant committed the crime charged need only be sufficient to satisfy the court that the defendant did in fact commit the crime charged. See State v. Black, 2001 WI 31, ¶¶11-12, 242 Wis. 2d 126, 624 N.W.2d 363. "[W]hen a plea is pursuant to a plea bargain, the trial court is not required to go to the same length to determine whether the facts would sustain the charge as it would if there was no plea bargain." State v. Harrell, 182 Wis. 2d 408, 419, 513 N.W.2d 676 (Ct. App. 1994). "[A] factual basis for a plea exists if an inculpatory inference can be drawn from the complaint or facts admitted to by the defendant..." Black, 242 Wis. 2d 126, ¶16. If no factual basis for the crimes existed at the time of the plea, the defendant will have satisfied the manifest injustice requirement. See Higgs, 230 Wis. 2d at 10-11. "The determination of the existence of a sufficient factual basis lies within the discretion of the trial court and will not be overturned unless it is clearly erroneous." State v. Smith, 202 Wis. 2d 21, 25, 549 N.W.2d 232 (1996) (cited source omitted).

# 3. The circuit court complied with Wis. Stat. § 971.08(1) and found a factual basis for the charges

Ziegler, through his counsel, agreed at the plea hearing that the criminal complaint could be relied on as the factual basis for his plea (R1.40:14). The trial court specifically inquired as to whether there was an adequate factual basis to support each element of the offenses (R1.40:14). In State v. Thomas, the Wisconsin Supreme Court stated that when counsel stipulates on the record to facts in the criminal complaint, a factual basis is established. See State v. Thomas, 2000 WI 13, ¶21, 232 Wis. 2d 714, 605 N.W.2d 836. A stipulation means that defense counsel agrees that the circuit court may look to facts in a criminal complaint and that such facts, if true, constitute the crime. Here, the Court also conducted its own review of the factual basis. The court stated, "I'm also satisfied having reviewed the complaints that there's a factual basis..." (R1.40:14). Additionally, the court advised Ziegler that "if you plead guilty to charges, you relieve the State of the burden of proving to the jury's satisfaction beyond a reasonable doubt every element of the charge" (R1.40:11). The court further asked Ziegler if he had reviewed the elements for the charges of invasion of

privacy and disorderly conduct, to which Ziegler answered affirmatively (R1.40:11).

Ziegler was well aware that one of the elements for the charges of invasion of privacy was that the looking into the dwelling unit was for the purpose of sexual arousal or gratification. See JI-Crim 1395. Ziegler was present at the motion hearing on February 27, 2018, when his "Motion to Dismiss for Failing to State Sufficient Facts Within the Criminal Complaint" was heard (R1.39:1). Ziegler heard his attorney argue that "there is nothing here establishing a sexual gratification or arousal element" (R1.39:4). The court held otherwise (R1.39:4-5, 9-10). Ziegler knew that sexual gratification or arousal was a part of an element of the offenses, and he knowingly, intelligently and voluntarily entered pleas of "Guilty" to the two charges of invasion of privacy (R1.40:13).

A court's decision to accept a guilty plea involves findings of fact. See Thomas, 232 Wis. 2d 714, fn.7. The circuit court found the defendant guilty and thus determined there was a factual basis for the guilty plea. Reviewing courts do not disturb a circuit court's factual findings, unless the findings are contrary to the great

weight and clear preponderance of the evidence. See id. (citations omitted).

The circuit court was given a chance to review its findings when Ziegler filed a postconviction motion (R1.28). The circuit court did so by reviewing the criminal complaints, along with the findings from the court's earlier decision denying the motion to dismiss (R1.36:4). The court again found that the factual allegations in the complaint, coupled with the reasonable inferences to which they give rise, establish that Ziegler looked into the victims' dwellings for the purpose of sexual arousal or gratification (R1.36:5). The court found that Ziegler's intent may be inferred from his conduct (R1.36:5, citing e.g., State v. Routon, 2007 WI App 178, ¶ 21, 304 WIS. 2d 4800, 736 N.W.2d 178).

Ziegler claims that the circuit court's ruling renders the sexual gratification prong of the statute superfluous (Defendant-Appellant's Brief, p. 4). However, the circuit court specifically pointed out that it was not assuming that any defendant who looks through the window of another person's residence is presumed to have done so for the purpose of sexual arousal or gratification (R1.36:6). The circuit court correctly held that the defendant's intent

Case 2019AP000858 Brief of Respondent Filed 12-10-2019 Page 13 of 16

can be inferred by the facts, and that the inference must flow reasonably from the facts (R1.36:7). The circuit court ruled that the surrounding circumstances of the cases established the reasonable of the inference, that the defendant's intent in looking through the windows was for the purpose of sexual arousal or gratification (R1.36:7). The intent portion of the statute is not superfluous, nor did the circuit court treat it as such. Instead, the court made a specific factual finding in both cases that Ziegler's intent could be inferred from his conduct.

Ziegler's claims do not rise to the level of a prima facie showing that the circuit court failed to find a factual basis for his plea. The circuit court properly denied Ziegler's motion without an evidentiary hearing (R1.36:9). This court should conclude that the circuit court complied with Wis. Stat. § 971.08(1)(b).

#### CONCLUSION

For these reasons, the State requests that this Court affirm the circuit court's decision concluding that there was a sufficient factual basis for Ziegler's pleas and that his pleas were thus knowingly, voluntarily, and intelligently entered.